

## University of Southern Maine **USM Digital Commons**

Access / Insurance

Maine Rural Health Research Center (MRHRC)

5-1-2014

### High Deductible Health Insurance Plans in Rural Areas

Jennifer D. Lenardson MHS University of Southern Maine, Maine Rural Health Research Center

Erika C. Ziller PhD

University of Southern Maine, Muskie School of Public Service, Maine Rural Health Research Center

Andrew F. Coburn PhD

University of Southern Maine, Muskie School of Public Service, Maine Rural Health Research Center

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usm.maine.edu/insurance



Part of the Health Services Research Commons

#### Recommended Citation

Lenardson, J. D., Ziller, E. C., & Coburn, A. F. (2014). High deductible health insurance plans in rural areas. (Working Paper #55). Portland, ME: University of Southern Maine, Muskie School of Public Service, Maine Rural Health Research Center.

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Maine Rural Health Research Center (MRHRC) at USM Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Access / Insurance by an authorized administrator of USM Digital Commons. For more information, please contact jessica.c.hovey@maine.edu.

# Maine Rural Health Research Center Working Paper #55

# High Deductible Health Insurance Plans in Rural Areas

May 2014

Authors
Jennifer D. Lenardson, M.H.S.
Erika C. Ziller, Ph.D.
Andrew F. Coburn, Ph.D.

Cutler Institute for Health and Social Policy Muskie School of Public Service University of Southern Maine





# High Deductible Health Insurance Plans in Rural Areas

May 2014

Maine Rural Health Research Center

Working Paper #55

Jennifer D. Lenardson, M.H.S. Erika C. Ziller, Ph.D. Andrew F. Coburn, Ph.D.

Cutler Institute for Health and Social Policy Muskie School of Public Service University of Southern Maine

This study was funded under a Cooperative Agreement with the federal Office of Rural Health Policy, Health Resources and Services Administration, DHHS (CA#U1CRH03716). The conclusions and opinions expressed in the paper are the authors' and no endorsement by the University of Southern Maine or the sponsor is intended or should be inferred.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	. 1
INTRODUCTION	. 1
BACKGROUND	. 3
HDHP Characteristics	. 3
Enrollment Variation by Employer Characteristics	. 4
Variation by Income and Health Status	. 5
Impact of HDHPs on Access and Cost	. 6
METHODS	
Data	. 7
Analysis	. 8
FINDINGS	. 9
Rural-Urban Differences in HDHP Enrollment	. 9
Rural and Urban HDHP Enrollment by Employment Characteristics	10
Health Plan Characteristics by Plan Type and Residence	10
Factors Associated with HDHP Enrollment	11
LIMITATIONS	12
REFERENCES	16
TABLES	19
Table 1. Percent of Privately Insured Enrolled in a High Deductible Health Plan by Rural an	d
Urban Residence and Sample Characteristics	19
Table 2. Percent Of Privately Insured Adults Ages 18-65 Enrolled in a High Deductible	
Health Plan by Rural And Urban Residence and Employment Characteristics	20
Table 3. Percent of Rural and Urban Residents by Type of Private Health Plan and Plan	
Characteristics	21
Table 4. Logistic Regression Predicting High Deductible Health Plan Enrollment	22

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The research in this paper was conducted at the Research Data Center of the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS). The results and conclusions in this paper are those of the authors and do not indicate concurrence by NCHS or the Department of Health and Human Services. The authors would like to thank Nataliya Kravets at NCHS for her invaluable assistance. They also wish to thank colleagues at the Maine Rural Health Research Center for their editorial comments.

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

#### Introduction

Enrollment in high deductible health plans (HDHPs) has increased amid concerns about growing health care costs to patients, employers, and insurers, yet little is known about rural participation in these plans. Prior research indicates that privately insured rural individuals pay a higher proportion of their income for out-of-pocket health care costs compared to their urban counterparts, a difference related both to the lower income of rural residents and to the types of private plans through which they have coverage. While HDHPs may be attractive to rural enrollees due to their lower premiums, the income status of rural residents may limit their participation in savings accounts and make deductible and co-insurance costs burdensome. This study examines rural residents' enrollment in HDHPs and explores the implications of the findings for the Health Insurance Marketplaces.

#### **Methods**

Using the 2007-2010 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS), this study examines HDHP enrollment by socio-demographic, economic, and health plan characteristics among rural and urban residents with private health insurance under age 65. These data are linked to the Rural-Urban Continuum Codes to examine residents living in urban areas, rural areas adjacent to urban areas, and rural areas not adjacent to urban areas.

#### **Findings**

Though we find higher HDHP enrollment among rural residents than urban at the bivariate level, these differences cease to exist when controlling for socio-demographic and employment characteristics. Characteristics associated with rural residence—such as being White, not Hispanic, being married, and not currently working—are associated with a greater likelihood of enrollment in HDHPs plans. Rural-urban differences in HDHP enrollment may be driven by regional differences in health insurance markets, with large segments of the privately insured rural population living in areas where HDHPs are more common (e.g., Midwest and Western regions).

#### **Policy Implications**

Enrollment in private HDHPs is likely to continue to grow given current market trends and the implementation of the tiered health plan options in the Health Insurance Marketplaces. Our findings suggest that rural enrollment in HDHPs may be proportionately greater than among urban residents especially in remote rural areas. The impact of greater enrollment in HDHPs among rural residents deserves careful monitoring in light of research suggesting that greater out-of-pocket costs associated with both premium payments and high deductibles tend to create barriers to appropriate use of health services, especially among lower income people. HDHP enrollees may be reluctant to incur costs, limiting needed service use, or may incur unaffordable costs given the high out-of-pocket maximum (\$6,350 for individuals and \$12,700 for families). It is important that consumer education, outreach, and enrollment strategies tied to the new insurance Marketplaces provide information about deductible and cost-sharing responsibilities for all plan types and the need to plan for annual out-of-pocket costs. In addition, ensuring that enrollees understand HDHP features such as the availability of first-dollar coverage of preventive care will be critical.

#### INTRODUCTION

Employers and individuals have attempted to curb rapidly growing health insurance premiums by shifting to plans with higher consumer cost-sharing, including higher deductibles. High deductible health plans (HDHPs) are health insurance plans with lower premiums and higher consumer cost-sharing than traditional plans. By requiring consumers to fund a greater amount of their own care, these plans aim to reduce premium costs by promoting informed, cost-conscious decision-making about health care use. HDHPs typically offer catastrophic coverage once consumer copayments, coinsurance, and deductibles meet an established threshold. To pay for health care expenses incurred before the deductible is met, HDHPs may be offered with a tax-advantaged health savings account – an arrangement commonly referred to as a consumer-directed health plan (CDHP).

Enrollment in high-deductible plans has grown rapidly in recent years and this growth is expected to continue. During the first three months of 2012, 29.7% of persons under age 65 with private health insurance were enrolled in a HDHP, including 10.8% who were enrolled in a CDHP.<sup>3</sup> These figures represent a 47% increase in HDHP enrollment since 2007 and a nearly 140% increase in CDHP enrollment.<sup>3</sup>

While the effects of current market trends on HDHP enrollment in both the employer and individual markets seem clear, insurance provisions in the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (ACA) and implementation of Health Insurance Marketplaces with tiered health plan options that include HDHPs may prompt additional growth in high-deductible plans. Provisions in the ACA that penalize employers and insurers for high-cost plans may encourage further use of HDHPs.<sup>4,5</sup> Additionally, the experience of Massachusetts' health reform initiative

suggests that individuals who purchase unsubsidized insurance are more likely to select lower premium cost plans with higher deductibles and co-insurance,<sup>6</sup> which may imply significant take-up among high-deductible and catastrophic plans available through the individual and small business marketplaces.

Prior research indicates that rural individuals are more likely than their urban counterparts to face high out-of-pocket health care costs relative to income, despite coverage through private health insurance. This difference is related both to the lower income of rural residents generally and to the quality of the private plans through which they have coverage. In part, this is explained by the concentration of the rural workforce among small employers and self-employed individuals, with employees of small firms being more likely to have any deductible, and to have a higher deductible, than employees of large firms. Moreover, Gabel and colleagues' analysis of the relative actuarial value of insurance plans shows that rural employers pay more for the same plan than their urban counterparts and that plans in rural areas are more likely to involve a higher deductible compared to plans in urban areas (69% compared to 43%). Given these findings, we suspect that privately insured rural people are more likely to be covered by high deductible plans; however, the empirical evidence to support this assumption is limited.

The ACA has the potential to greatly expand health insurance coverage for many rural Americans. However, the impact on access to health care may depend, in part, on the benefit design of the plans into which rural residents enroll. Under the ACA's provisions, Affordable Insurance Marketplaces and Small Business Health Options Programs will offer tiered products, including HDHPs that vary by premium and consumer cost-sharing requirements. Despite a growing research literature examining the impact of HDHPs on access to care and consumer

costs, no known research has examined rural-urban variation in HDHP enrollment compared to other private plans and the socio-demographic, economic, and health plan characteristics associated with these coverage types. Compared to urban residents, rural residents have disproportionately lower-income, poorer health status, non-group policies, and are more likely to be employed by small firms or in low-wage jobs. While HDHPs may be attractive to rural residents due to their lower premiums, the income status of rural workers may make deductible and co-insurance costs burdensome and are likely to limit their participation in savings accounts. This study examines rural residents' enrollment in HDHPs and explores the implications of the findings for the Health Insurance Marketplaces.

#### **BACKGROUND**

#### **HDHP Characteristics**

As of 2010, the National Health Interview Survey defined the HDHP annual deductible amount as \$1,200 or more for individual coverage or \$2,400 or more for family coverage, an amount adjusted annually for inflation. HDHPs are most commonly available in the private sector, though efforts are underway to make HDHPs available to Medicare and Medicaid enrollees through demonstration programs. 11,12

Consumer-directed health plans (CDHPs) are high-deductible plans accompanied by a savings mechanism, used by the consumer for health care expenses not covered by the plan.

CDHPs may have either a health reimbursement arrangement (HRA) or health savings account (HSA). Initially offered by employers in 2001, HRAs were established and funded by employers for the use of employees in paying for health care, with the employer determining whether funds can be carried over plan years. HRAs may also be offered with health maintenance organizations (HMOs) and preferred provider organizations (PPOs). Though there is no cap on

contributions, HRAs are not portable across jobs.<sup>14</sup> Initiated under the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, employees and employers are allowed to contribute to an HSA when the employee is enrolled in an HDHP.<sup>13</sup> Consumers may keep their HSAs if they change jobs or are no longer enrolled in an HDHP.<sup>15</sup> There are several tax advantages of health savings accounts including: tax deductible contributions to the account for either the employee or employer; funds deposited into the accounts are deducted from taxable income; and earnings on the funds accrue tax free and are not subject to taxes at withdrawal when the funds are used for medical costs. Additionally, after age 65, accrued balances can be withdrawn without penalty and used for expenses that are not health related.<sup>2</sup> As of 2010, annual contributions to HSAs are capped at \$3,050 for individuals and \$6,150 for families. In 2010, employers were more likely to offer an HSA than a HRA, 10% compared to 2%.<sup>13</sup>

Despite growing CDHP participation, nearly 40% of those eligible to enroll in an HSA in 2010 did not open an account. Reasons for not opening an account included lack of information, could not afford, did not need an HSA, and tax savings were not attractive. Additionally, over one-third of surveyed employers did not contribute to HSAs on behalf of their employees. The individual portability of HSAs may make them somewhat unattractive to employers.

#### **Enrollment Variation by Employer Characteristics**

Across all firm sizes, the percent of employers offering HDHPs has been a small but increasing in recent years. Among all firms with three or more workers, 4% of employees were enrolled in a CDHP in 2006, growing to 13% in 2010. Among firms with 1,000 or more workers, 10% offered a CDHP in 2006 compared to 28% in 2010. HDHP subscribers were more likely to have no plan choice compared to those enrolled in traditional plans. HDHPs are more prevalent among small firms and among the self-employed, common characteristics of

rural employment. Among covered workers in smaller firms (3-199 workers), 16% are enrolled in a HDHP with a savings option compared to 12% of covered workers in large firms (200 or more workers). When considering covered workers with an annual single deductible of \$1,000 or more, 46% of small firm workers have high-deductible coverage compared to 17% of large firm workers. Additionally, over 50% of the self-insured were enrolled in a HDHP, implying significant coverage of the self-employed or not employed through high-deductible plans. The average premium for an HDHP in the non-group market was almost twice that of an employer-based/offered plan. <sup>20</sup>

#### Variation by Income and Health Status

Past research has suggested that low-income persons are more likely to be enrolled in a HDHP than higher-income persons, <sup>17,21</sup> with higher-income persons more likely to have an HSA<sup>15</sup> and to receive employer contributions to their saving accounts.<sup>22</sup> However, relatively recent work has found no income differences in CDHP enrollment<sup>16</sup> or the presence of a savings account for health care expenses.<sup>22</sup> CDHP and HDHP enrollees were found to be more highly educated than traditional plan enrollees.<sup>16</sup>

HDHPs generally involve a trade-off lower premiums and higher out-of-pocket costs.

Despite their lower premiums, HDHPs may be unaffordable for low-income persons who are also unlikely to benefit from tax advantaged HSAs. The tax subsidy may not generate benefits for individuals who cannot afford to adequately fund an HSA account.<sup>2,20</sup> While premiums in 2005 for HSA-qualified health plans were about 30% lower than other group plans, the average deductible associated with these plans was six times higher than that of a PPO, the most common plan type.<sup>20</sup> Premium cost-sharing, common among smaller employers, add to these higher deductible and co-insurance costs associated with HDHPs for lower income workers.

#### Impact of HDHPs on Access and Cost

A growing body of literature suggests that enrollees in HDHPs may face greater health access problems that reduce their use of health services. Among adult HDHP enrollees, 17% reported an unmet need for medical care or prescription drugs as a result of cost, compared to 10% of adults enrolled in a traditional health plan. Focus group participants enrolled in a New England-based HDHP reported delaying or avoiding visits as a way to control costs. Henrollees in a CDHP were more likely than those with other private coverage to forgo care when they thought they needed it or to take a lower dose of a prescription drug than recommended compared to those in a lower deductible CDHP or a traditional PPO. Compared to those enrolled in other private health plans, HDHP enrollees were less likely to report receipt of common preventive services and were more likely to have foregone a prescription and to report that they had health problems as result of avoiding a physician visit due to cost. Among employees in a large manufacturing firm, enrollees in HDHPs with a savings option were more likely to discontinue highly effective antihypertensive and lipid lowering drugs, suggesting that HDHP enrollees may not distinguish between necessary and unnecessary care.

#### **METHODS**

This study examines rural-urban differences in HDHP enrollment among those who are privately insured. We address the following questions: 1) Are privately insured rural versus urban residents more likely to be covered by HDHPs?; 2) What socio-demographic and regional characteristics are associated with enrollment in HDHPs compared to other private plans?; and 3) How do coverage features differ between rural and urban HDHP enrollees (e.g., how coverage was obtained, prescription drug coverage, premium costs)?

#### **Data**

This study uses data from the 2007-10 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) and the 2009-10 Area Resource File (ARF). The NHIS is designed to monitor the health of the U.S. population on a broad range of health topics including trends in illness and disability, barriers to care, health status, health related behaviors, and risk factors as well as socio-economic and demographic information.<sup>28</sup> Beginning in 2007, NHIS respondents were asked about their participation in high-deductible plans and use of associated savings accounts.\* Data were collected for approximately 75,000 respondents in 2007 and 2008 and 89,000 respondents in 2009 and 2010. We use the NHIS Person file and exclude respondents aged 65 and older because they are covered by Medicare. Data on certain employer characteristics (e.g., firm size, ownership, and wages) are available only in the Sample Adult File; thus, to identify whether there are rural-urban differences in the employment characteristics associated with HDHP enrollment, we use this file and limit this sub-analysis to adults age 18-64.

The ARF is a national source of county-level health data collected by the federal Health Resources and Services Administration that contains geographic identifiers, including the Rural-Urban Continuum Codes (RUCC). Because the public use NHIS datasets do not contain a rural-urban indicator, we followed the process of the National Center for Health Statistics Research Data Center (RDC) to link the NHIS to select variables from the ARF. Since previous studies have shown that rural sources of coverage vary by population density and proximity to urban areas, <sup>9,29</sup> we compare urban counties to rural counties that border an urban county (adjacent) or that are more remote (not adjacent), based on the RUCC.

<sup>\*</sup> High-deductible plans may or may not be associated with a health savings account; those plans with a savings account are known as consumer-directed health plans.

#### **Analysis**

Examining whether privately insured rural residents are more likely than those in urban areas to have high-deductible coverage, we use HDHP enrollment as our dependent variable. Based on the IRS definition, the 2010 NHIS identified an HDHP as one where the annual deductible is \$1,200 or more for individual coverage or \$2,400 or more for family coverage, an amount adjusted annually for inflation. It should be noted that this is a conservative definition of "high deductible" and anecdotal evidence suggests a growing segment of individuals purchase coverage with deductibles ranging from \$5,000 to \$10,000. The extent to which more rural residents fall into this latter group cannot be ascertained from the current data.

Using a combination of bivariate and multivariate techniques, we compare rural and urban enrollment in HDHPs and other private plans. Our bivariate analyses examine differences by socio-demographic, economic, and health plan characteristics across rural and urban participants. For rural-urban comparisons of HDHP enrollment, we estimate a logistic regression model to assess whether enrollment in an HDHP is greater in rural areas controlling for other factors. These control variables include age, gender, race and ethnicity, health status, chronic condition limitation, region of residence, marital status, employment status, and family income.

Because the NHIS employs a complex sampling strategy, weights are assigned to each record based on the probability of selection and adjusted for key sociodemographic characteristics. All statistical tests are calculated using SUDAAN version 10 (Research Triangle Institute, Research Triangle Park, NC) because of its ability to account for sample design parameters and to yield valid standard errors for the weighted data.<sup>30</sup> Frequency differences are evaluated with Cochran-Mantel-Haenszel chi-square tests; unless stated otherwise, reported differences are statistically significant at the .05 level or less.

#### **FINDINGS**

#### **Rural-Urban Differences in HDHP Enrollment**

Among all individuals under age 65 with private insurance during 2007-2010, 26% of those living in a rural, not adjacent county have an HDHP, compared to 21% of those living in a rural adjacent county and 20% in an urban county (Table 1). Regardless of residence, CDHPs<sup>†</sup> are less common than HDHPs without a savings option; however, rural, not adjacent residents are slightly more likely to enroll in CDHPs than urban residents. Among individuals with private insurance, 7% of those living in a rural, not adjacent area have a CDHP, compared to 5% in rural adjacent areas, and 6% in urban areas (data not shown).

Higher rates of rural HDHP enrollment among the privately insured persist across nearly all the sociodemographic groups examined (Table 1). For example, while HDHP enrollment rates increase with higher educational status, within each educational level, those in rural areas are more likely to have an HDHP (e.g., 29% for rural, not adjacent adults with a college degree versus 21% in urban). Similarly, white, non-Hispanic individuals are more likely to have HDHP coverage; however, rural rates of HDHP enrollment are higher for each racial and ethnic category analyzed. The primary exception to this is region of residence, where variation in HDHP enrollment is pronounced. Rural HDHP enrollment is higher than urban in three out of four regions. In the South, however, the urban coverage rate is actually higher than for rural (21% versus 19% for both rural adjacent and not adjacent). HDHP enrollment rates for rural individuals are highest in the West (29%); for urban individuals they are highest in the Midwest (25%).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Consumer-directed health plans (CDHPs) are high-deductible plans accompanied by a savings mechanism, used by the consumer for health care expenses not covered by the plan.

Among all those with a HDHP, over half of rural enrollees have graduated high school or its equivalency, while over half of urban enrollees are college graduates (data not shown). Similarly, about 50% of rural HDHP enrollees have income below 400% of the federal poverty level (FPL), while 56% of urban enrollees have income at or above 400% (data not shown).

#### Rural and Urban HDHP Enrollment by Employment Characteristics

To better understand the employment characteristics associated with rural and urban HDHP enrollment, we conducted sub-analyses for adults under age 65 and, again, found that rural rates of HDHP coverage are generally higher than urban regardless of employment characteristic (Table 2). While HDHP coverage is generally higher among small business employees (fewer than 25 workers), the rate is 29% for rural workers in small firms compared to 26% for urban. Additionally, among those workers paid an hourly wage, the rate of HDHP enrollment among rural, not adjacent residents is 23% compared to 19% of urban residents. Although HDHP coverage is generally lower among those who work for county, state, or federal governments, 20% of rural, not adjacent public workers have an HDHP, compared to 13% of urban public workers. Private firm employees are also more likely to have a HDHP when they live in rural, not adjacent areas than private firm employees in urban areas. Roughly one-third of workers with self-employment income have HDHP coverage, and this is somewhat higher in rural areas.

#### Health Plan Characteristics by Plan Type and Residence

Rural, not adjacent residents with an HDHP are less likely than rural adjacent and urban residents to have prescription drug coverage (80% compared to 87% and 88% respectively; Table 3). Rural, not adjacent residents are more likely to have obtained their HDHP coverage through non-group sources versus an employer (28%) compared to rural adjacent (23%) and

urban residents (20%). Only 7% of rural individuals with non-HDHP private coverage get it from a non-group source and this did not differ significantly from those in urban areas. Among individuals with HDHPs, there are no rural-urban differences in annual premiums or family medical costs. However, persons with high-deductible coverage pay more in out-of-pocket premium costs and in family spending for medical care than persons with some other private coverage, regardless of residence. Rural residents with HDHPs are less likely to have an associated HSA than urban residents (26% vs. 30%).

#### **Factors Associated with HDHP Enrollment**

To assess the contribution of selected socio-demographic and employment factors, we estimated a logistic regression model with HDHP enrollment as a dichotomous outcome variable and include age, race and ethnicity, health status, marital status, employment status, family income and region as covariates (Table 4). Though we found rural-urban differences in HDHP enrollment at the bivariate level, these differences disappeared when controlling for the characteristics described above. Characteristics associated with rural residence also appear to be associated with a greater likelihood of enrollment in HDHPs. For example, the odds of HDHP enrollment are higher among individuals who are White, not Hispanic, are married, and are not currently working—characteristics that are each also more common in rural areas (data not shown). In addition, our multivariate analyses confirm that there is significant variation in HDHP enrollment by region, with the odds of having an HDHP being 79% higher in the South, and about double in the West and Midwest, when compared to the Northeast. Among the privately-insured generally, a larger percentage of rural residents live in the South and Midwest compared to the Northeast and West (data not shown). Thus, the bivariate rural-urban differences in HDHP enrollment may be driven by regional differences in health insurance

markets, with large segments of the privately insured rural population living in areas where HDHPs are more common.

#### LIMITATIONS

The NHIS does not reveal actual deductible amounts respondents face in their HDHPs and it sets the threshold for defining a HDHP relatively low compared with current plans offered in most health insurance markets. As a result, we are limited in our ability to assess the true impact of higher out-of-pocket costs associated with HDHPs on rural residents. Thus, our study may understate the extent of the cost-sharing burden on rural residents and the degree to which this differs from urban residents. Additionally, because we do not have access to information on the availability of plans in different markets, we cannot assess whether rural enrollment in HDHPs is associated with limited plan choice or other factors.

#### **SUMMARY & POLICY IMPLICATIONS**

Growth in privately purchased high-deductible plans is likely given the continuing rise in health insurance costs and current market and policy trends. <sup>4,5</sup> This growth may occur disproportionately in rural areas overall and remote rural areas in particular. Compared to urban residents, rural residents face disparities in health status and outcomes, <sup>29,31-33</sup> yet obtain fewer health visits and preventive services than urban residents <sup>34,35</sup> and are more likely to defer needed services due to cost. <sup>36</sup> Enrolled in a HDHP with higher out-of-pocket costs and annually renewing deductibles, rural residents may face additional financial barriers to appropriate health use of health services.

Although premium affordability and the presence of HSAs are driving enrollment growth in HDHPs over traditional plans, <sup>16</sup> the cost experience and impact for workers in small firms or the self-employed who make up a large part of the rural workforce is not clear. <sup>37</sup> Among firms

with 10 or fewer workers, 73% of employees were offered an HDHP only<sup>38</sup> and this lack of choice is likely to affect rural workers, given the prevalence of small firms in the rural economy.

Regardless of residence, individuals with high-deductible coverage pay higher amounts in out-of-pocket premium costs and in family spending for medical care than those with other types of private coverage. While the premium finding is counterintuitive given that HDHPs usually have lower absolute premiums than more comprehensive plans, this likely reflects greater cost-sharing borne by the enrollee versus an employer (either because individuals purchase coverage directly or employer contributions are less generous).

Among those covered by an HDHP, rural residents are more likely to have lower incomes and education than urban residents. Subsidized coverage for individuals with income up to 400% of the poverty level through the Marketplace may increase the affordability of coverage for rural residents. Subsidy amounts will be based on income and costs of the mid-level "Silver" plan, a scale thought to reduce cost-sharing while increasing actuarial value.<sup>39</sup>

Rural residents enrolled in an HDHP are less likely to have prescription drug coverage than their urban counterparts. The impact of going without coverage of prescription costs for rural residents is largely unknown. Given that higher prescription costs and copayments reduce medication adherence for those with chronic disease, 40,41 rural residents may face costlier and poorer outcomes under an HDHP when prescriptions are not covered. The inclusion of prescription drugs as part of the essential health benefits for non-grandfathered health insurance coverage is especially important for rural residents, who may be high users of plans available through the Health Insurance Marketplaces.

Among public sector employers, we find much higher rates of HDHP enrollment for rural versus urban employees. This finding is of particular interest given that public employers tend to

offer health insurance plan choices that are more comprehensive than those offered by private employers. At the state and federal levels, individuals living in rural and urban areas would presumably have the same basic plan options (although perhaps not the same number of carriers). This suggests that rural public workers may be more likely to select HDHP coverage from the options available to them than urban public workers. At the local level, rural county and municipal governments may lack the resources may to offer their employees plans with lower deductibles.

Despite the tax and planning advantages of HSAs, funding these accounts may be more difficult for rural residents given their overall lower income. If a family contributed \$2,100 to a health savings account (the required minimum family deductible in 2006), the combined premium and savings amounts would consume 15% of household expenditures when annual family income was approximately \$25,000.<sup>20</sup> Additionally, the tax subsidy may be negligible for individuals who can afford to put little into the account<sup>2,20</sup> and small employers may not have the financial resources to contribute to health savings accounts for their employees.

Though HDHPs are somewhat more common among rural residents, significant differences between HDHP and other privately insured individuals in both rural and urban areas suggest the importance of monitoring HDHP enrollment, plan affordability, and cost barriers to health care access as these are likely to change with enrollment and experience with plans available through the Health Insurance Marketplaces and Small Business Health Options Program Marketplaces. Among those covered by an HDHP, rural residents are more likely to have lower incomes and to have more limited educational attainment than urban residents. Given these differences, plan outreach and education should include information about deductible and cost-sharing responsibilities for all plans and ensure that enrollees understand

HDHP features such as first-dollar coverage of preventive care and the need to plan for annual out-of-pocket costs and potential use of savings accounts. Promoting informed use of high-deductible and other health plans should be a high priority, especially among vulnerable populations such as those purchasing coverage for the first time. Given the transparency of health care costs to consumers with high deductible plans, these plans may promote more informed and cost-conscious use of health services. However, it will be important to monitor knowledge of HDHP features, and use of health care services, among rural enrollees to ensure that they do not experience excessive cost burden or access barriers.

#### **REFERENCES**

- 1. Fuchs B, Potetz L. *The Fundamentals of Health Savings Accounts and High-Deductible Health Plans.* Washington, DC: The George Washington University, National Health Policy Forum;2007.
- 2. Blumberg LL, Clemans-Cope L. Health Savings Accounts and High-Deductible Health Insurance Plans: Implications for Those with High Medical Costs, Low Incomes, and the Uninsured. Washington, D.C.: The Urban Institute and The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation;2009.
- 3. Cohen RA, Martinez ME. Health Insurance Coverage: Early Release of Estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, January-March 2012. National Center for Health Statistics2012.
- 4. Haviland AM, Marquis MS, McDevitt RD, Sood N. Growth of Consumer-Directed Health Plans to One-Half of All Employer-Sponsored Insurance Could Save \$57 Billion Annually. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2012;31(5):1009-1015.
- 5. Fronstin P. *Employers May Move by 2018 to Avoid Tax.* 2010. Available at: <a href="http://healthcare.nationaljournal.com/2010/05/a-future-for-consumerdirected.php#1587338">http://healthcare.nationaljournal.com/2010/05/a-future-for-consumerdirected.php#1587338</a>. Accessed 2011/09/29.
- 6. McDonough JE, Rosman B, Butt M, Tucker L, Howe LK. Massachusetts Health Reform Implementation: Major Progress and Future Challenges. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2008;27:w285-w297.
- 7. Ziller EC, Coburn AF, Yousefian AE. Out-of-Pocket Health Spending and the Rural Underinsured. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2006;25(6):1688-1699.
- **8.** Gabel J, McDevitt R, Gandolfo L, Pickreign J, Hawkins S, Fahlman C. Generosity and Adjusted Premiums in Job-Based Insurance: Hawaii Is up, Wyoming Is Down. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2006;25(3):832-843.
- 9. Lenardson JD, Ziller EC, Coburn AF, Anderson NJ. *Profile of Rural Health Insurance Coverage: A Chartbook.* Portland, ME: University of Southern Maine, Muskie School of Public Service, Maine Rural Health Research Center:2009.
- **10.** Cohen RA, Ward BW, Schiller JS. Health Insurance Coverage: Early Release of Estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, 2010. National Center for Health Statistics;2011.
- **11.** Government Accountability O. *Medicaid: Health Opportunity Accounts Demonstration Program.* Washington, D.C.: US GAO;2011. GAO-12-221R.
- **12.** Medicare Program; Solicitation for Proposals for Medical Savings Account Demonstration Project, Pub L., 2006).
- **13.** The Kaiser Family F, Health R, Educational T. *Employer Health Benefits* 2010 Annual Survey. Menlo Park, CA: The Kaiser Family Foundation;2010.
- **14.** Committee on Child Health F. High-Deductible Health Plans and the New Risks of Consumer-Driven Helth Insurance Products. *Pediatrics*. 2007;119:622-626.

- 15. Government Accountability O. Health Savings Accounts: Participation Increased and Was More Common among Individuals with Higher Incomes. Washington, D.C.: U.S. General Accountability Office;2008. GAO-08-474R.
- **16.** Fronstin P. Findings from the 2010 Ebri/Mga Consumer Engagement in Health Care Survey. Washington, DC: Employee Benefit Research Insitute;2010. EBRI Issue Brief No.352.
- **17.** Davis K, Doty MM, Ho A. How High Is Too High? Implications of High-Deductible Health Plans. New York, N.Y.: The Commonwealth Fund;2003. 816.
- **18.** Galbraith AA, Ross-Degnan D, Soumerai SB, Rosenthal MB, Gay C, Lieu TA. Nearly Half of Families in High-Deductible Health Plans Whose Members Have Chronic Conditions Face Substantial Financial Burden. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2011;30(2):322-331.
- **19.** Cohen RA, Martinez ME. Health Insurance Coverage: Early Release Estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, January March 2011. Washington, D.C.: National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention;2011.
- **20.** Hoffman C, Tolbert J. *Health Savings Accounts and High Deductible Health Plans: Are They an Option for Low-Income Families?* Washington, DC: Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured;2006. No. 7568.
- **21.** Galbraith AA, Ross-Degnan D, Soumerai SB, Mirshnik I, Wharam JF, Kleinman KLTA. High-Deductible Health Plans: Are Vulnerable Families Enrolled? *Pediatrics*. 2009;123(4):e589-594.
- 22. Kullgren JT, Galbraith AA, Hinrichsen VL, et al. Health Care Use and Decision Making among Lower-Income Families in High-Deductible Health Plans. *Arch Intern Med.* 2010;170(21):1918-1925.
- 23. Cohen RA. Impact of Type of Insurance Plan on Access and Utilization of Health Care Services for Adults Aged 18-64 Years with Private Health Insurance: United States, 2007-2008. Washington, DC: National Center for Health Statistics;2010. NCHS Data Brief No. 28.
- **24.** Lieu TA, Solomon JL, Sabin JE, Kullgren JT, Hinrichsen VL, Galbraith AA. Consumer Awareness and Strategies among Families with High-Deductible Health Plans. *JGIM: Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2010;25(3):249-254.
- **25.** Dixon A, Greene J, Hibbard J. Do Consumer-Directed Health Plans Drive Change in Enrollees' Health Care Behavior? *Health Aff.* 2008;27(4):1120-1131.
- **26.** Lee TH, Zapert K. Do High-Deductible Health Plans Threaten Quality of Care? *N Engl J Med.* 2005;353(12):1202-1204.
- **27.** Greene J, Hibbard J, Murray JF, Teutsch SM, Berger ML. The Impact of Consumer-Directed Health Plans on Prescription Drug Use. *Health Aff.* 2008;27(4):1111-1119.
- 28. Botman SL, Moore TF, Moriarity CL, Parsons VL. Design and Estimation for the National Health Interview Survey, 1995-2004. *Vital and Health Statistics*. 2000;2(130).

- **29.** Ziller EC, Coburn AF, Loux SL, Hoffman C, McBride TD. *Health Insurance Coverage in Rural America: A Chartbook.* Washington, DC: Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured;2003.
- **30.** Research Triangle Institute. *Sudaan User's Manual.* Research Triangle Park, NC: Research Triangle Institute;2001. Release 8.0.
- **31.** Eberhardt M, Ingram D, Makuc D, et al. *Health, United States, 2001: Urban and Rural Chartbook.* Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics.;2001.
- **32.** Hartley D. Rural Health Disparities, Population Health, and Rural Culture. *Am J Public Health*. Oct 2004;94(10):1675-1678.
- 33. Pleis JR, Lethbridge-Cejku M. Summary Health Statistics for U.S. Adults: National Health Interview Survey, 2006. Vital Health Stat 10. 2007(235):1-153.
- 34. Larson SL, Fleishman JA. Rural-Urban Differences in Usual Source of Care and Ambulatory Service Use: Analyses of National Data Using Urban Influence Codes. *Med Care*. 2003;41(7 Suppl):III65-III74.
- 35. Agency for Health Care R, Quality. Health Care in Urban and Rural Areas, Combined Years 2004-2006. Requests for Assistance on Health Initiatives: Update of Content in Meps Chartbook No. 13. Available at: <a href="http://www.ahrq.gov/data/meps/chbook13up.htm">http://www.ahrq.gov/data/meps/chbook13up.htm</a>. Accessed 2012/03/01.
- **36.** Talbot JA, Coburn A. *Challenges and Opportunities for Improving Mental Health Services in Rural Long-Term Care.* Portland, ME: University of Southern Maine, Muskie School of Public Services, Maine Rural Health Research Center; 2013.
- **37.** The Kaiser Family F, Health R, Educational T. *Employer Health Benefits:* 2012 Annual Survey. Menlo Park, CA: The Kaiser Family Foundation and Health Research & Educational Trust;2012.
- **38.** America's Health Insurance P. Small Group Health Insurance in 2010: A Comprehensive Survey of Premiums, Product Choices, and Benefits. Washington, DC: AHIP;2011.
- **39.** Carey R. *Health Insurance Exchanges: Key Issues for State Implementation.* Princeton, NJ: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation;2010.
- **40.** Chernew ME, Shah MR, Wegh A, et al. Impact of Decreasing Copayments on Medication Adherence within a Disease Management Environment. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2008;27(1):103-112.
- **41.** Heisler M, Langa KM, Eby EL, Fendrick AM, Kabeto MU, Piette JD. The Health Effects of Restricting Prescription Medication Use Because of Cost. *Med Care.* 2004;42(7):626-634.

**TABLES**Table 1. Percent of Privately Insured Enrolled in a High Deductible Health Plan by Rural and Urban Residence and Sample Characteristics

Sample Characteristics	Rural, Not Adjacent	Rural Adjacent	Rural Total	Urban Total
Total (n)	25.8% (n=1,700) <sup>a</sup>	21.4% (n=2,570) <sup>a</sup>	22.9% (n=4,270) <sup>a</sup>	20.3% (n=23,325) a
Age	27 2 ab	O. t. c. a.b.	22 cab	24 2 a b
0-17	27.3 a,b	21.6 a,b	23.6 a,b	21.3 a,b
18-34	24.2	19.0	20.8	18.7
35-49	23.7	23.8	23.8	20.5
50-64	27.4	20.5	22.8	20.7
Sex				
Male	25.2	21.3	22.6	20.6 b
Female	26.4	21.5	23.1	20.1
Race/Ethnicity				
White, not Hispanic	27.2 a,b	22.0 a,b	23.8 a,b	21.7 a,b
Not White, not Hispanic	14.5	18.5	17.5	17.0
Any race, Hispanic	16.4	14.3	15.1	16.0
Health Status				
Excellent or very good	26.5 a	21.7 a	23.3 a	20.5 a,b
Good	23.7	20.2	21.3	19.5
Fair or poor	23.9	22.1	22.7	21.3
Activity Limited by Chronic Condition	26.5	23.1	24.2	23.3 b
Region				
Northeast	10.9 <sup>a,b</sup>	18.0 <sup>a,b</sup>	17.3 <sup>a,b</sup>	12.7 a,b
Midwest	29.7	25.2	27.4	24.5
South	18.7	19.0	18.9	21.3
West	30.6	27.8	29.0	21.3
Marital Status				
Married	25.8 a	21.6 a	23.0 a	20.5 a,b
Not married	23.6	21.2	22.0	19.7
Education				
Less than high school	17.5 a,b	16.7 a,b	16.9 a,b	14.9 a,b
High school or GED	23.9	20.8	21.8	19.3
College or more	28.5	23.0	24.9	21.1
Family income as a percent of poverty				
<150% FPL	24.3 a	19.5 a	21.1 a	17.5 a,b
150-399% FPL	26.5	21.4	23.1	20.5
≥400% FPL	25.2	21.9	23.0	20.5

Note: Marital status, employment and education are reported for adults only. Statistics are weighted to population level using NHIS weights. Sample size is unweighted. a. Within plan type, residence differences significant at  $p \le .05$ .

b. Within residence category, differences between HDHP and other private plan significant at  $p \le .05$ .

Table 2. Percent Of Privately Insured Adults Ages 18-65 Enrolled in a High Deductible Health Plan by Rural And Urban Residence and Employment Characteristics

Sample Characteristics	Rural, Not Adjacent	Rural Adjacent	Rural Total	<b>Urban Total</b>
Total (n)	25.1 <sup>a</sup> (n=1,235)	21.1 <sup>a</sup> (n=1,932)	22.4 <sup>a</sup> (n=3,167)	19.9 <sup>a</sup> (n=16,928)
Employment status				
Employed	24.6	21.0	22.2	19.5 b
Not employed	28.4	22.2	24.1	22.3
Number of full-time workers in family				
2 FT workers	23.8 a	$20.4^{\mathrm{a,b}}$	21.5 a.b	18.6 a,b
1 FT worker	27.6	21.6	23.6	21.7
No FT workers	29.9	28.7	29.1	22.2
Receives income from self-employment				
Yes	36.0 a,b	34.3 <sup>a,b</sup>	35.0 <sup>a,b</sup>	32.0 a,b
No	23.2	19.5	20.7	18.8
Employer size				
<25 employees	29.9 a,b	27.5 a,b	28.5 a,b	26.1 a,b
>25 employees	21.9	18.8	19.8	18.2
Paid an hourly wage				
Yes	22.9 a,b	19.2 <sup>a,b</sup>	20.4 a,b	$18.8^{a,b}$
No	28.8	25.5	26.6	22.6
Type of employer				
Private employer	25.6 a,b	21.6 a,b	22.9 a,b	21.0 a,b
Government (Federal, State, or Local)	19.9	15.3	17.0	13.4
Self employed	37.2	39.5	38.6	35.9

Note: Statistics are weighted to population level using NHIS weights. Sample size is unweighted. Employment status, full-time workers in a family, and income from self-employment were asked of persons age 18 and older only. Employer size, paid an hourly wage, and type of employer were asked of persons age 18 and older about their current or most recent job for those adults selected for the Sample Adult file, which questions a randomly identified adult from each family for additional occupational and employment questions.

a. Within plan type, residence differences significant at  $p \le .05$ .

b. Within residence category, differences between HDHP and other private plan significant at  $p \le .05$ .

Table 3. Percent of Rural and Urban Residents by Type of Private Health Plan and Plan Characteristics

	Rural, No	t Adjacent	Rural /	Adjacent	Rura	l Total	Urba	n Total
Health Plan	HDHP	Other	HDHP	Other	HDHP	Other	HDHP	Other
Characteristics		Private Plan		Private Plan		Private Plan		Private Plan
Total (n)	25.8 a	74.2 <sup>a</sup>	21.4 a	78.6 <sup>a</sup>	22.9 <sup>a</sup>	77.1 <sup>a</sup>	20.3 a	79.7 <sup>a</sup>
	(n=1,700)	(n=4,840)	(n=2,570)	(n=9,830)	(n=4,270)	(n=14,670)	(n=23,325)	(n=95,479)
Prescription drug coverage	80.2 a,b	92.6 <sup>b</sup>	86.9 a,b	92.8 b	84.4 a,b	92.8 <sup>b</sup>	88.1 a,b	92.3 b
Out-of-pocket premium costs								
\$0-1,199	28.3 b	38.9 a,b	28.0 b	37.8 a,b	28.1 b	38.1 a,b	28.1 b	41.9 a,b
\$1,200-3,599	31.3	35.4	32.6	36.8	32.1	36.3	31.6	32.6
\$3,600-7,199	28.7	19.2	28.0	19.2	28.3	19.2	26.6	18.5
\$7,200 or more	11.6	6.5	11.4	6.2	11.5	6.3	13.7	7.0
Amount family spent for medical care								
Less than \$500	16.1 <sup>b</sup>	30.8 a, b	20.5 b	33.9 a,b	18.8 b	32.9 a,b	19.8 <sup>b</sup>	37.3 a,b
\$500 - \$1,999	36.9	43.5	35.1	42.5	35.8	42.8	34.3	39.4
\$2,000 - \$2,999	15.2	12.9	18.4	11.6	17.2	12.0	15.8	11.2
\$3,000 - \$4,999	17.6	6.6	12.9	6.9	14.6	6.8	14.9	6.9
\$5,000 or more	14.3	6.3	13.1	5.1	13.6	5.5	15.2	5.3
How coverage was obtained								93.5 b
Employer or union	$72.1^{a,b}$	91.9 <sup>b</sup>	77.1 a,b	93.4 <sup>b</sup>	75.2 a,b	92.9 b	80.3 a,b	6.5
Non-group sources (self-employed, direct purchase, and school, community program or other)	27.9	8.1	23.0	6.6	24.8	7.1	19.7	
Presence of a health savings account	27.9 a	NA	24.0 a	NA	25.5 a	NA	29.8 a	NA
Couldn't afford prescription drug in past year (sample adults only)	9.3 <sup>b</sup>	5.3 b	8.1	5.9	8.5 b	5.7 <sup>a,b</sup>	7.3 b	4.7 <sup>b</sup>

Note: Statistics are weighted to population level using NHIS weights. Sample size is unweighted.

a. Within plan type, residence differences significant at  $p \le .05$ 

b. Within residence category, differences between HDHP and other private plan significant at  $p \le .05$ .

Table 4. Logistic Regression Predicting High Deductible Health Plan Enrollment

1.0 1.01 (0.90, 1.14) 1.15 (0.97, 1.36) 1.04 (0.98, 1.10) .92 a (0.86, 0.98) 1.03 (0.98, 1.08) 1.0 1.0 1.0 74 a (0.69, 0.79) .71 a (0.65, 0.78)
1.01 (0.90, 1.14) 1.15 (0.97, 1.36) 1.04 (0.98, 1.10) .92 a (0.86, 0.98) 1.03 (0.98, 1.08) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 74 a (0.69, 0.79) .71 a (0.65, 0.78)
1.04 (0.98, 1.10) .92 a (0.86, 0.98) 1.03 (0.98, 1.08) 1.0 1.0 1.0 .74 a (0.69, 0.79) .71 a (0.65, 0.78)
1.04 (0.98, 1.10) .92 a (0.86, 0.98) 1.03 (0.98, 1.08) 1.0 1.0 1.0 .74 a (0.69, 0.79) .71 a (0.65, 0.78)
1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
1.03 (0.98, 1.08) 1.0 1.0 .74 <sup>a</sup> (0.69, 0.79) .71 <sup>a</sup> (0.65, 0.78)
1.0 1.0 .74 <sup>a</sup> (0.69, 0.79) .71 <sup>a</sup> (0.65, 0.78)
1.0 .74 <sup>a</sup> (0.69, 0.79) .71 <sup>a</sup> (0.65, 0.78)
.74 <sup>a</sup> (0.69, 0.79) .71 <sup>a</sup> (0.65, 0.78)
.74 <sup>a</sup> (0.69, 0.79) .71 <sup>a</sup> (0.65, 0.78)
.71 a (0.65, 0.78)
,
1.0
1.0
1.0
0.98 (0.93, 1.03)
1.06 (0.98, 1.15)
1.0
.16 <sup>a</sup> (1.90, 2.44)
.79 <sup>a</sup> (1.58, 2.01)
.93 a (1.71, 2.18)
1.0
.94 <sup>a</sup> (0.90, 0.99)
.66 a (0.59, 0.73)
.85 a (0.80, 0.89)
1.0
1.0
1.0
.21 <sup>a</sup> (1.15, 1.28)
.21 <sup>a</sup> (1.15, 1.28)

Note: Differences significant at  $p \le .05$  a.

### Maine Rural Health Research Center Recent Working Papers

- WP52. Gale, J., Hartley, D., Croll, Z. (2014, February). Meaningful Use of Electronic Health Records by Rural Health Clinics.
- WP50. Talbot, J.A., & Coburn, A.F. (2013). Challenges and Opportunities for Improving Mental Health Services in Rural Long-Term Care.
- WP49. Anderson, N., Neuwirth, S., Lenardson, J.D., & Hartley, D. (2013, June). Patterns of Care for Rural and Urban Children with Mental Health Problems.
- WP48. Gale, J.A., Lenardson, J.D., Lambert, D., Hartley, D. (2012). <u>Adolescent Alcohol Use: Do Risk</u> and Protective Factors Explain Rural-Urban Differences?
- WP47. Published as Ziller, E.C., Lenardson, J.D., & Coburn, A.F. (2012). Health care access and use among the rural uninsured. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 23(3):1327-1345.
- WP46. Anderson, N., Ziller, E., Race, M., Coburn, A., (2010) <u>Impact of Employment Transitions on Health</u>
  <u>Insurance Coverage of Rural Residents</u>
- WP45. Lenardson, J., Ziller, E., Lambert, D., Race, M., Yousefian, A., (2010) <u>Access to Mental Health</u> Services and Family Impact of Rural Children with Mental Health Problems
- WP44. Hartley, D., Gale, J., Leighton, A., & Bratesman, S. (2010). <u>Safety net activities of independent Rural</u> Health Clinics
- WP43. Gale, J., Shaw, B., Hartley, D., & Loux, S. (2010). *The Provision of Mental Health Services by Rural Health Clinics*
- WP42. Race, M., Yousefian, A., Lambert, D., & Hartley, D. (2010). *Mental Health Services in Rural Jails*.
- WP41. Lenardson, J., Race, M., & Gale, J.A. (2009, December). Availability, Characteristics, and Role of Detoxification Services in Rural Areas.
- WP40. Ziller, E., Anderson, N.J., Coburn, A.F., & Swartz, J. (2008, November). Access to Rural Mental Health Services: Service Use and Out-Of-Pocket Costs.
- WP39. Lambert, D., Ziller, E., Lenardson, J. (2008). <u>Use of Mental Health Services by Rural Children.</u>
- WP38. Morris, L., Loux, S.L., Ziller, E., Hartley, D. <u>Rural-Urban Differences in Work Patterns</u>
  <u>Among Adults With Depressive Symptoms.</u>
- WP37. Yousefian, A. Ziller, E., Swartz, J, & Hartley, D. (2008, January). *Active Living for Rural Youth.*
- WP36. Loux, S. L., Hartley, D., Gale, J., & Yousefian, A. E. (2007, August). *Inpatient Psychiatric Unites in Small Rural Hospitals: A National Survey*.
- WP35. Lenardson, J. D., & Gale, J. A. (2007, August). <u>Distribution Of Substance Abuse Treatment Facilities Across The Rural-Urban Continuum.</u>
- WP34. Ziller, E.C, Coburn, A.F., Anderson, N., Loux, S. (2006). Uninsured Rural Families.
- WP33. Ziller E, Coburn, Yousefian AE. (2005). <u>Out-of-Pocket Health Care Spending and The Rural Underinsured.</u>

Established in 1992, the Maine Rural Health Research Center draws on the multidisciplinary faculty and research resources and capacity of the Cutler Institute for Health and Social Policy within the USM Muskie School of Public Service. Rural health is one of the primary areas of research and policy analysis focus within the Institute, and the Center builds upon the Institute's strong record of research, policy analysis, and policy development that addresses critical problems in health care.

The Maine Rural Health Research Center's mission is to inform health care policymaking and the delivery of rural health services through high quality, policy relevant research, policy analysis and technical assistance on rural health issues of regional and national significance. For over 20 years, the Maine Rural Health Research Center's research agenda has focused on some of the most intractable health access problems facing rural residents, especially those with mental health and substance abuse issues and those facing financial barriers due to lack of insurance and under-insurance.

Maine Rural Health Research Center
Muskie School of Public Service
University of Southern Maine
PO Box 9300
Portland, ME 04104-9300
207-780-4430
207-228-8138 (fax)
http://usm.maine.edu/muskie/cutler/mrhrc